75-26-88 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA EDWARD PAUL PETERS Petitioner, SID J. W vs. MAR 2 1 1988 STATE OF FLORIDA REME COLLE CL Respondent. 1000 B Deputy Clerk Case No. 71,609

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEPHEN KROSSCHELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Polk County Courthouse P.O. Box 9000 Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER



TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 17, 1983, Appellant, Edward Paul Peters, was charged by information in Polk County Circuit Court with having sold and possessed a misdemeanor amount of cannabis on October 20, 1983, contrary to section 893.13 Florida Statutes (1981). (R11-12) By the same information, he was charged with having possessed drug paraphernalia and a felony amount of cannabis on October 28, 1983, contrary to sections 893.13, 893.147 Florida Statutes (1981) (R12-13)

On January 30, 1984, Peters pled guily to selling cannabis and possessing a felony amount of cannabis; the drug paraphernalia charge and the misdemeanor cannabis possession charges were nolle prossed. (R15) On March 22, 1984, adjudication was withheld and Peters was placed on probation for three years. (R20, 22)

On August 13, 1985, Peters was charged by information in Polk County Circuit Court with having possessed a felony amount of cannabis on July 24, 1985, contrary to section 893.13 Florida Statutes (1983). (R25) On August 22, 1985, Peters was charged by affidavit with having violated his probation, by failing to pay the costs of supervision and by selling cannabis. (R27)

On October 11, 1985, probation was revoked. After a guilty plea. Peters was adjudged guilty of both the 1983 and the 1985 offenses, and placed on community control for two years. (R34-35,38)

On November 26, 1985, Peters was charged with having sold and possessed with intent to sell cannabis on October 16, 1985, contrary to section 893.13 Florida Statutes (1983). (R40)

On February 6, 1986, Peters was charged by affidavit with having violated his community control by selling and possessing cannabis and by not remaining at his approved residence. (R44)

At a hearing on July 3, 1986, Peters pleaded no contest to the charges and admitted violating his community control. (R54-55) The recommended guideline sentence was 12 to 30 months. (R81) Over defense objection that the optional one-cell departure for violation of probation did not apply in this case, the trial court sentenced Peters to three years in prison, concurrent on all charges. (R58,71-75,78-80) Peters was adjudged guilty of the new charges. (R65-66)

Peters appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal. In an opinion dated December 2, 1987, the court held that the onecell increase for violation of probation was legal in this case. <u>Peters v. State</u>, 516 So.2d 60 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). Peters then appealed to the Supreme Court of Florida. This court accepted jurisdiction in an order dated February 23, 1988.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14) does not clearly state whether a one cell increase in the sentence for violation of probation should be applied to all offenses pending for sentencing or just to the offenses for which the defendant was placed on probation. This supreme court should adopt the holdings of the fourth and fifth districts that under the logic of the rule, this aggravating factor (probation violation) should be used only for those offenses for which it is relevant. In addition, this court should determine that, pursuant to its decision in <u>Hendrix</u>, the same probation should not be used both as points for legal status and as a reason to depart.

II. Rule 3.701(d)(14) should not have been used to aggravate the sentence for Petitioner's 1984 offenses, because the rule was not in effect at that time. This error was not harmless, because, contrary to the views of the second district, a violation of community control--by itself--is not and never has been a valid reason for departure from the guidelines. The cursory notation on the bottom of the scoresheet did not satisfy the requirement for a thoughtful and careful exposition of written reasons for departure.

III. Petitioner's conviction and sentences for both sale of narcotics and possession with intent to sell violated double jeopardy. Since the two offenses are listed in the same subsection of the same statute, the legislature probably did not intend multiple punishments but rather provided for alternate methods of proof of the same offense. Petitioner did not procedurally default on this issue because a violation of double

jeopardy is fundamental error which can be raised at any time, even after a guilty plea.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DE-PARTED FROM THE GUIDELINES BY ONE CELL ON OFFENSES FOR WHICH PETITIONER HAD NEVER BEEN PLACED ON PROBATION.

Α.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14) currently reads as follows:

Sentences imposed after revocation of probation or community control must be in accordance with the guidelines. The sentence imposed after revocation of probation may be included within the original cell (guidelines range) or may be increased to the next higher cell (guidelines range) without requiring a reason for departure.

This ambiguous rule does not clearly say whether a one cell increase is permitted for all offenses for which the defendant is being sentenced or only for those offenses for which the defendant was placed on probation. The fourth and fifth districts agree with the second district's interpretation in <u>Meadows v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) that the one cell increase applies only to the offenses whose probation is being revoked and not to the new substantive probation violations. <u>Green v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 795 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); <u>Cummins v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 328 (Fla. 5th DCA Feb. 4, 1988)

<u>Green</u>, <u>Cummins</u>, and <u>Meadows</u> give effect to the logic and policy underlying Rule 3.701(d)(14). This rule suggests that offenses should be punished more harshly if the defendant is given the opportunity of probation and yet fails to abide by the conditions of the opportunity. The rule allows judges to increase

sentences beyond the recommended guideline range, because the defendant was given a second chance on these offenses and yet failed to take advantage of it. This policy underlying Rule 3.701(d)(14), therefore, does not apply to the new substantive offenses because a defendant is not given a second chance on these offenses. He gets only one chance; he is sentenced immediately. In consequence, the rule's policy to punish more harshly those given two chances does not apply to the new offenses. To be sure, the new offenses are committed while the defendant is on probation; as Meadows points out, however, this factor is "properly entered into the guideline scoresheet as an assessment for legal constraint." Meadows, 498 So.2d at 1019. In summary, then, Meadows, Green, and Cummins teach that it is illogical to use a probation violation as an aggravating factor in a sentence which is unrelated to the underlying probation.

The second district, in <u>Frick v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), receded from <u>Meadows</u> and decided instead to follow its previous decision in <u>Lee v. State</u>, 491 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). <u>Lee</u> does not really even discuss the <u>Meadows</u> issue; it instead addresses the question whether the same probation can be used both as points on the scoresheet for legal status and as a reason to depart from the guidelines by one cell. <u>Lee</u> holds that the same probation can be used for both purposes for all offenses pending for sentencing. This holding is contrary to <u>Watkins v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 576,578 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), which criticizes using a defendant's legal status twice in this way.

This disagreement between Lee and Watkins in effect

revolves around another ambiguity in Rule 3.701(d)(14). The rule can be read either as authorizing a limited departure sentence without written reasons, or as enlarging the scoresheet's recommended sentencing range. If, on the one hand, the rule is read as enlarging the scoresheet's recommendation, then using the same probation both for legal status points and for increasing the guidelines range would not be the illegal double dipping condemned by Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla.1985). It would instead be only a means of giving added emphasis to a particular part of the scoresheet, just as the prior category multipliers give added emphasis to parts of a defendant's prior record. See, Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(15). If, on the other hand, the rule is read as authorizing a limited departure sentence, then it would be the illegal double dipping condemned by Hendrix. "We find a lack of logic in considering a factor to be an aggravation allowing departure from the guideline when the same factor is included in the guidelines." Hendrix, 475 So.2d at 1220 (quoting Burch v. State, 462 So.2d 548,549 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)).

Petitioner contends that for two reasons, a sentence pursuant to Rule 3.701(d)(14) should be viewed as a departure sentence rather than a guidelines sentence. First, although some cases refer to the one cell increase as an increase of the guidelines range, most cases characterize it as a departure sentence which does not require written reasons. <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 496 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); <u>Saldana v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 1238 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>Deegan v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 970 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); <u>Boldes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 475 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). To be sure, in none

of these cases is this characterization more than dictum. That most of the cases do use this characterization, however, is suggestive of the correct view. Second, since Rule 3.701(d)(14) is in fact thoroughly ambiguous on this point, the common law rule of lenity controls. It teaches that "courts must resolve all doubts in favor of the accused." <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161, 165 (Fla.1987).

Thus, since the rule of lenity requires that a Rule 3.701(d)(14) sentence be viewed as a departure from the guidelines, the rule cannot be used when points have already been scored for legal status. <u>Lee</u>, <u>Frick</u>, and the present case are therefore wrong on this point.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE EX POST FACTO DOCTRINE BY APPLYING A SENTENCING GUIDELINES AMENDMENT TO OFFENSES WHICH OCCURRED BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AMEND-MENT; THE COURT SHOULD THEREFORE HAVE LISTED WRITTEN REASONS FOR THE DEPARTURE.

The offenses in case no. 83-3548 were committed on October 20 and 28, 1983, (R11-13) prior to the effective date of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14). <u>See, The</u> <u>Florida Bar; Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure,</u> 451 So.2d 824 (Fla.1984). The second district rejected the contention that using this rule in case no. 83-3548 to increase the sentencing range by one cell violated the ex post facto doctrine. The court reasoned that this error was harmless because at the time these offenses were committed, the court could have departed solely on the basis that Peters had violated his community control. Rule 3.701(d)(14), therefore limited the extent of departure to one cell for violation of community control. Since this change was favorable to the defendant, applying the new amendment retroactively did not implicate the ex post facto doctrine.

Petitioner disagrees with virtually every aspect of this reasoning. Petitioner first disagrees that, at the time of the offense, a departure sentence could be justified solely by the mere fact of a violation of community control. Although some district courts did have this rule, <u>Carter v. State</u>, 452 So.2d 953 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), others did not. <u>O'Malley v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 869 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). This supreme court never had an opportunity to rule on the question. If this court had ruled

on the question, Petitioner contends that it would have ruled consistently with its opinion in <u>Pentaude v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla.1987). <u>Pentaude</u> holds that a violation of probation, by itself, is not enough to justify a departure sentence. It is not now and never was true, for example, that a failure to pay \$30 costs of supervision or a failure to provide written monthly reports to the probation officer is a clear and convincing reason for departure.

Consequently, the present opinion is wrong to say that Rule 3.701(d)(14) was an amendment favorable to the defendant. Contrary to the views of the second district in the present case, the rule did not function to limit departures but rather to authorize them. That Rule 3.701(d)(14) was an unfavorable amendment for the defendant which could not be applied retroactively was confirmed at the time by numerous district court decisions. <u>Elbert v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); <u>Burke v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>Arnett v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 547 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Petitioner also disagrees with the implication of the present decision that the absence of written reasons for departure can sometimes be harmless. The opinion seems to suggest that a trial court's improper use of Rule 3.701(d)(14) to avoid the necessity of written departure reasons can sometimes be harmless. A failure to provide written departure reasons, however, is per se reversible error. <u>State v. Jackson</u>,478 So.2d 1054 (Fla.1985). Consequently, the second district is wrong to suggest that it is not.

To be sure, the bottom of the scoresheet in this case

does list as a reason for departure "violation of community control." (R81) In accordance with its decision in <u>Speights v.</u> <u>State</u>, 495 So.2d 882 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) and the first district's decision in <u>Knight v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the second district may have determined that this scoresheet notation was sufficient to satisfy the requirement of written reasons for departure. The third and fifth districts, however, disagree that scoresheet notations satisfy the requirement. <u>Mortimer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 490 So.2d 93 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); <u>Watson v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 831 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

The present case illustrates why the third and fifth districts are right on this issue. The record does not show that the trial judge actually wrote the notation on the scoresheet. This cursory notation does not explain the judge's position on what is now the crucial question, <u>i.e.</u>, whether, under <u>Pentaude</u>, the violation was sufficiently egregious to justify a departure sentence. The notation does not comport with the spirit of the rule as explained in <u>Jackson</u>.

For the first time in this state, a body of law is being developed regarding considerations which may or may not be appropriate in sentencing criminal defendants. This effort would best be served by requiring the thoughtful effort which "a written statement providing clear and convincing reasons" would produce. This in turn, should provide a more precise, thoughtful, and meaningful review which ultimately will result in the development of better law.

Jackson, 478 So.2d at 1056.

Thus, a valid written reason for departure was necessary in this case. The scoresheet notation did not satisfy this re-

quirement. The second district was wrong to hold otherwise.

ISSUE III

CONVICTION FOR BOTH SALE OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE AND POSSES-SION WITH INTENT TO SELL VIOLATED THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY DOCTRINE.

Petitioner was charged with both sale of a controlled substance and possession with intent to sell the substance during the same act.¹ (R40-42)

The first district has ruled that charging a defendant with both of these offenses violates the double jeopardy doctrine. <u>Fletcher v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The second district disagrees. <u>Dukes v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 582 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). This supreme court's decision in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla.1987), however, puts a completely different complexion on this issue. Under <u>Carawan</u>, the question is whether "an examination of relevant factors provides a reasonable basis for concluding that the legislature did not intend to impose multiple punishments." <u>Id. at 169</u>.

Petitioner contends that several relevant factors provide a reasonable basis for this conclusion in this case.

First, sale and possession with intent to sell are both part of the same statutory provision, §893.13(1)(a) Fla.Stat. (1985). ("[I]t is unlawful for any person to sell, manufacture, or deliver, or possess with intent to sell, manufacture, or deliver a controlled substance.") This fact suggests that the legislature intended this statute to encompass only one offense.

 $[\]underline{1}$ / Although it is obvious from the information that these offenses occurred during the same act, the present record does not explicitly say that they did. Consequently, Petitioner has requested this court to allow him to supplement the record with a complaint affidavit which shows the facts of the case.

Thus, <u>Rotenberry v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 971 (Fla.1985) plainly assumes that the various parts of section 893.13(1)(a) all represent the same offense. In the course of discussing, whether simple sale is a lesser included offense of trafficking, <u>Rottenberry</u> assumes that simple sale is the equivalent of violating section 893.13(1)(a) in its entirety and that the (single) offense of violating section 893.13(1)(a) requires proof that the offender (1) sold, manufactured, delivered, or possessed with intent to sell, manufacture or deliver (2) a controlled substance." <u>Id</u>. at 976. <u>Rotenberry</u> therefore implies that sale, delivery, manufacture, and possession with intent should be considered as one violation of the entire statute and not as different violations of just parts of it.

Similarly, <u>Bell v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1057 (Fla.1983) notes that simple possession and simple sale are codified in different statutes. <u>Id</u>. at 1060. <u>Bell</u> reasons, however, that because the legislature included "sale and possession of drugs within the [same] trafficking statute, it is apparent that the legislature intended to facilitate trafficking prosecutions through the use of alternative methods of proof rather than attempting to provide for multiple convictions and punishments for criminal conduct which is basically unitary." <u>Id</u>. Although <u>Bell</u>, <u>Rotenberry</u>, and <u>Carawan</u> reach conflicting results, this general principle that narcotics offenses are the same if they are defined in the same statute, can be gleaned from all three cases since the instant offenses are both defined by the same statute, they should therefore be considered the same for double jeopardy purposes.

A second factor relevant to determining legislative intent is whether the different statutory language addresses the

same evil. Here, the various parts of section 893.13(1)(a) do address the same evil, i.e., making controlled substances available for others.

Third, according to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(k)(5),

[f]or an offense which may be committed by doing of one or more of several acts, or by one or more of several means, or with one or more of several intents or results, it is permissible to allege in the disjunctive or alternative such two or more acts, means, intents, or results.

Rule 3.140(k)(5) suggests here that, sometimes the legislature intends to allow a single offense to be proved in several different ways. Section 893.13(1)(a) is an example of this legislative intent. <u>Carey v. State</u>, 349 So.2d 820 (F1a. 3d DCA 1977); <u>Weinstein</u> <u>v. State</u>, 348 So.2d 1194 (F1a. 3d DCA 1977). Consequently, the legislature intended section 893.13(1)(a) to encompass only one offense and not two or more.

A fourth relevant factor is the lack of violence involved in the instant offenses. <u>Carawan</u> finds an anomaly in supposing that a single act resulting in death could be only one offense but a single non-violent act (such as selling a controlled substance) could be two offenses. Carawan, 515 So.2d at 170.

A fifth relevant factor is the "inherent relationship" between the two charged offenses in the sense that, almost invariably, proof of possession with intent to sell is necessarily included as part of the proof of actual sale. <u>See</u>, <u>United States</u> <u>v. Johnson</u>, 637 F.2d 1224 (9th Cir. 1980) (uses inherent relationship test and rejects mechanical comparison of elements). The

only time a defendant might be guilty of sale and not of possession with intent to sell is when the prosecution's theory is conspiracy or aiding and abetting. Even in this instance, however, the two offenses are inherently related, because the actual seller must have the substance in his possession. This inherent relationship is a fifth relevant indication that the legislature did not intend to punish these offenses separately.

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