0 (A5-26-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOR TOA

EDWARD PAUL PETERS,

Petitioner,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

SID 1 WHITE

MAY 18 1988

CLERK OF MEM COURT

Qase No. 11 609

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID R. GEMMER

Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

13 F.L.W. at 1048. See also Griffin v. State, 519 So.2d 677 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (citing to instant decision below on identical issue). Pearson and Cain both find it proper to bump one cell when sentencing for multiple offenses, where probation was revoked and points were added for being under legal constraint (the probation) at the time of the later offense. The first district in Cain relied on Lee for the principle that such sentencing does not constitute the double-dipping condemned in Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).

Only two cases stand out as clearly being in conflict with the instant case, the other second district decisions in <a href="Peterson">Peterson</a> and <a href="Griffin">Griffin</a>, and the first district in <a href="Cain">Cain</a>: <a href="Cummins v. State">Cummins v. State</a>, 519 So.2d 718 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and <a href="Green v. State">Green v. State</a>, 513 So.2d 794 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The <a href="Cummins">Cummins</a> court held that "[t]he automatic one-cell departure of Rule 3.701(d)(14) only applies to the offense for which probation was revoked . . . not for the subsequent offense . . . which constitutes the probation violation." <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 719. The court remanded for resentencing within the guidelines on the subsequent offense.

Cummins is clearly erroneous. By distinguishing between offenses for purposes of sentencing, the fifth district in essence mandated preparation of separate scoresheets sentencing on the separate charges, one without a bump in the recommended sentence, one with a bump. is This inconsistent with the philosophy and scheme of the guidelines, and with the express dictates of Rule 3.701(d)(1) which mandates that only one scoresheet shall be prepared for all offenses pending before the court for sentencing. The Cain court expressly rejected an argument by the state that separate scoresheets should have been used to permit the challenged split sentence.

In <u>Green</u>, the fifth district expressly relied upon <u>Meadows</u>. Ironically, at the time of the <u>Green</u> decision, <u>Frick</u> had already issued receding from <u>Meadows</u>, three months before Green was decided. It is understandable that the Green court

missed the <u>Frick</u> ruling, since <u>Frick</u> is a brief en banc decision that did not merit a headnote when reported in West's Southern Reporter Second. Of course, the first district in <u>Cain</u>, almost a year after <u>Frick</u>, was by then on notice of the demise of <u>Meadows</u> and relied, instead, on the revivified rationale of <u>Lee</u>.

Lee is the simple answer to a simple question which became complicated with Meadows and Green. There will never be a situation where a true double-dipping situation occurs because of scoring for legal constraint and bumping for violation of probation. For such double-dipping to occur, the defendant would have had to have been placed on probation for the underlying technical violation offense. committed some of probation sufficient to impose sentence, and then faced sentencing for the underlying, and only, criminal offense. In such a case, the trial court would double dip if it added points for being on probation at the time of the offense, since the defendant could not have been under such constraint until after he was brought to justice. This does not happen. Taylor v. State, 13 F.L.W. 677 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (to be reported at 522 So.2d 924).

Petitioner urges that <u>Lee</u> conflicts with <u>Watkins v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 576 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). Appellant writes that

Lee . . . addresses the question whether the same probation can be used both as points on the scoresheet for legal status and as a reason to depart from the guidelines by one cell. Lee holds that the same probation can be used for both purposes for all offenses pending for sentencing. This holding is contrary to Watkins . . . which criticizes using a defendant's legal status twice in this way.

Petitioner's Initial Brief at 5. This argument places the cart First, Lee did not hold that violation of before the horse. probation could be used to "depart." Lee did hold that probation revocation could be used to "bump," to "automatically increase," and to "increase" the sentence to the next higher cell. therefore misleading to state that Watkins "criticizes using a defendant's legal status twice in this way." Watkins criticizes using revocation of community control as a reason for departure, i.e. a deviation above the one-cell bump. The Watkins court expressly quotes Rule 3.701(d)(14) and even emphasizes the provision that the sentence "may be increased to the next higher cell," 498 So.2d at 578 (emphasis in original). What the trial court had done in Watkins was to depart, i.e. impose a sentence greater than the one-cell increase permitted under the rule. state conceded in Watkins that none of the reasons offered for departure were valid. The court held that:

The [trial] court not only factored the defendant's legal status at the time of the offense into the guidelines scoresheet but also used the same legal status as a basis for departure from the guidelines.

498 So.2d at 578 (emphasis added). Watkins is totally consistent with Lee. The Watkins court recognized that the trial judge could have increased the sentence by one cell, but he could not depart. Watkins expressly found that the trial judge failed to follow the directives of Rule 3.701(d)(14), i.e. to increase by one cell, no more.

Petitioner's argument that the one-cell increase of the rule is a "departure" is meritless. While some courts have used the term "departure" in describing the bump in dicta, the guidelines themselves provide the final word. In the most recent amendment to the guidelines, this Court modified the sentence ranges to provide not only recommended ranges but also permitted ranges. The permitted ranges provide, in effect, a one-cell increase or decrease at the complete discretion of the judge:

Departures from the quideline Departures from the recommended or permitted guideline sentence should be avoided unless there are clear and convincing reasons to aggravating mitigating warrant or the sentence sentence. Any outside of the permitted guideline range must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure. Reasons for deviating from guidelines shall not include factors prior without relating to arrests conviction. Reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to the instant offenses for which convictions have not been obtained.

Rule 3.701(d)(11), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure Re: Sentencing Guidelines (Rules 3.701 & 3.988), 13 F.L.W. 110 (Fla. Feb. 11, 1988). A sentence which is an increase of one cell under Rule 3.701(d)(14) is still a guideline sentence, i.e. one within the range permitted by the rules. With the latest amendment, one-cell increases and decreases are in all cases permitted, and are not departures. A departure sentence is one which, by definition, "must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure."

This exercise in semantics is necessitated by petitioner's attempt to characterize the one-cell increase as a departure in order to bring it within the purview of <a href="Hendrix v. State">Hendrix v. State</a>, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985). However, study of <a href="Hendrix">Hendrix</a> shows that petitioner's efforts are futile, because <a href="Hendrix">Hendrix</a> itself refutes the argument:

Departures from the guidelines are permitted, but judges must explain departures in writing and may depart only for reasons that are "clear and convincing." . . .

. . . To allow the trial judge to depart from the guidelines based upon a factor which has already been weighed in arriving at a presumptive sentence would in effect be counting the convictions twice which is contrary to the spirit and intent of the guidelines.

475 So.2d at 1220 (emphasis added). Obviously, this Court considered double-dipping to have occurred only where a trial judge departed for a reason already factored in on the scoresheet, and gave that as a reason in his written reasons for departure. On the other hand, the rules themselves expressly provide for adding points for both legal constraint and a one-cell bump when probation is revoked for a subsequent criminal act which is also being disposed of in the same proceeding.

The rules studiously avoid referring to the increase as a departure and refer to departure as deviations from the guidelines requiring written reasons. Examples cited by petitioner of judicial references to the increase as a departure are merely inexact use of the term "departure" in a context where

such usage lends clarity or brevity to discussions where precision on this point is not required. In the instant case, as in the rules themselves, precision is necessary. The rules have made the distinction between the bump and a deviation or departure; this Court created the distinction and need only reaffirm its intent to resolve the instant case.

#### ISSUE II

THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSE DOES NOT REQUIRE RE-VERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER.

- A. PETITIONER WAIVED THE EX POST FACTO CLAIM BY FAILING TO RAISE IT IN THE TRIAL COURT.
- B. NO EX POST FACTO PROBLEM EXISTS. RULE 3.701(D)(14) INNURES TO THE BENEFIT OF CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS, NOT THEIR DETRIMENT.
- C. EVEN IF THE ONE-CELL BUMP TRIGGERS EX POST FACTO PROBLEMS, THE SENTENCING SCORESHEET IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT DEPARTURE FOR THE SENTENCES.
- D. ASSUMING REMAND IS NECESSARY, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO ENTER A VALID, EXPLICIT REASON FOR DEPARTURE.

#### A. WAIVER

Initially, the state urges, as it did below, that petitioner waived the ex post facto claim by failing to object on that ground at sentencing. See, e.g., Arnold v. State, 505 So.2d 1104 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 515 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1987) (ex post facto claim waived); Parker v. State, 500 So.2d 721 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Treadway v. State, 500 So.2d 308 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The state further urges, as it did below, that any potential ex post facto problem is obviated by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a), permitting the trial court to correct illegal or incorrect sentences. Cf. Felts v. State, 13 F.L.W. 205 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 14, 1988) (Rule 3.800 obviates ex post facto claim regarding statute eliminating remand if reasons for departure are found invalid on appeal, provided at least one valid reason remains). If relief is appropriate for petitioner, he should have sought it under Rule 3.800.

#### B. NO EX POST FACTO PROBLEM EXISTS

Addressing petitioner's argument sub judice, petitioner appears to urge that State v. Pentaude, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), prohibits upward departure for violation of probation. the contrary, Pentaude specifically found that upward departure was appropriate "based upon the character of the violation . . . the number of times he has been placed on probation, the length of time he has been on probation before violating the terms and conditions, and any other factor material or relevant to the defendant's character." 500 So.2d 528. Petitioner's multiple drug offenses in violation of the terms of his probation and subsequent community control for the 1983 offenses, the fact he was given two chances--probation and community control--before sentencing on the 1983 offenses, and the fact that he was caught selling drugs only five days after his probation was revoked and replaced with community control on his first violation of the probation for the 1983 offenses, are damning under the Pentaude decision.

Departure always has been and still is permitted for violations of probation and community control. Before Rule 3.701(d)(14) took effect, departure for a violation of probation sufficient to revoke was permitted. Hall v. State, 478 So.2d 385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), review denied, 488 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1986); Tucker v. State, 464 So.2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("A trial court is justified in using the probation violation as a reason for enhancing a sentence." 464 So.2d at 212); Jackson v. State, 454

So.2d 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), modified on other grounds (ex post facto issue), 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985), overruled on other grounds (ex post facto issue), Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. \_\_\_, 107 S.Ct. \_\_\_, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987); Addison v. State, 452 So.2d 955 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Carter v. State, 452 So.2d 953 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Hall and Addison specifically hold that violation of a substantive condition of probation justifies departure. In both cases, Rule 3.701(d)(14) was not applicable, so the "substantive condition" language provides a standard under which departure would be appropriate prior to the effective date of the rule. However, the requirement that the violation be of a substantive condition is а tautology, as a non-substantive probation violation will not support revocation of probation. If probation is not revoked, then the question of departure upon sentencing never arises. See, e.g.. Molina v. State, 520 So.2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) ("This court has refused to find technical violations sufficient to justify revocation." 520 So.2d at 321); Drayton v. State, 490 So.2d 229 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) ("The violation triggering a revocation of probation must be willful substantial." 490 So.2d at 230); Davidson v. State, 419 So.2d 728 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982) (same quote as Drayton, 419 So.2d at 729); Shaw v. State, 391 So.2d 754 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (violation must be willful and substantial).

The conclusion reached from synthesizing the two lines of cases cited in the preceeding two paragraphs is that any

violation of probation sufficiently egregious to support revocation was sufficient to support departure, prior to the effective date of Rule 3.701(d)(14), so long as the violation (and hence the revocation, since no sentencing would occur absent revocation for the violation) was given as the reason for departure.

After the rule became effective, the automatic one-cell increase eliminated departure where the violation was only the bare minimum substantive violation sufficient to support revocation. Pentaude now controls vis-a-vis what circumstances support departure. This is exemplified in the recent decision of Machansky v. State, 517 So.2d 101, 101-02 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987):

Upon revoking a defendant's probation, the trial court may impose a sentence within the original guidelines range or the next guidelines range without providing written reasons for departure. Fla. R. Crim. 3.701(d)(14). A court is permitted to depart beyond the next higher range if the underlying reasons for the violation probation, as opposed to the mere fact of violation, are more than minor infraction and sufficiently egregious. State Pentuade, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

The <u>Machansky</u> court then concluded that the reason given for departure, willfulness of the violation, was not a valid reason since, as noted <u>supra</u>, willfulness is an element of every violation of probation. <u>Machansky</u>, therefore, illustrates that the courts are able to distinguish between "bare" violations and more egregious violations.

If the courts now distinguish between bare violations and egregious violations, when, prior to Rule 3.701(d)(14) and Pentuade, no such distinction was made in determining the propriety of a departure for revocation, then Rule 3.701(d)(14) operated to the benefit, not the detriment, of criminal defendants. Prior to Rule 3.701(d)(14), a trial court could have departed to the statutory maximum for a bare violation, subject to review as to whether the magnitude of the departure was an abuse of discretion. Under Rule 3.701(d)(14) the defendant can only suffer a one cell increase for a substantive but not egregious violation.

## C. THE SCORESHEET VIEWED AS A VALID DEPARTURE SENTENCE.

Petitioner's constitutional challenge need not even be reached. The <u>Peters</u> court below found the sentences on the 1983 offenses to be based on a bump up rather than a departure, and that the bump did not implicate the ex post facto clause because the court would have been free to depart, regardless. In short, there was error, but it was harmless.

This Court has recently held that a notation made on a guidelines scoresheet under "reasons for departure," regardless of whether it is made by the judge or the clerk, satisfies the "written reason" requirement of the rules. Torres-Arboledo v. State, 13 F.L.W. 229, 233 (Fla. April 1, 1988). Torres-Arboledo therefore clears up the inter-district conflict noted by petitioner in his brief.

The question then becomes whether "violation of community control" under "reasons for departure" on petitioner's scoresheet, R81, is sufficient to support a one-cell departure for the sentences on the 1983 offenses.

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